#### Case No. S273802

In the

# Supreme Court of the State of California

ANGELICA RAMIREZ, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC., Defendant and Appellant.

REVIEW OF A DECISION FROM THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR, CASE NO. B309408

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

\*JAMES A. BOWLES (SBN 89383) CASEY L. MORRIS (SBN 238455) ELISSA L. GYSI (SBN 281338) HILL, FARRER & BURRILL LLP One California Plaza 300 South Grand Avenue, 37th Floor Los Angeles, California 90071 (213) 620-0460 Telephone (213) 624-4840 Facsimile jbowles@hillfarrer.com • cmorris@hillfarrer.com egysi@hillfarrer.com

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in finding the provision in Charter's arbitration agreement allowing for recovery of interim attorneys' fees after a successful motion to compel arbitration so substantively unconscionable as to render the arbitration agreement unenforceable where the Court of Appeal in *Patterson v. Superior Court*, (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 473 ("*Patterson*") reached the opposite conclusion and found the provision lawful and enforceable.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in refusing to enforce and refusing to sever the allegedly unconscionable provisions of Charter's arbitration agreement where numerous other courts have enforced the same agreement.
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeal's decision that Charter's arbitration agreement is not enforceable is preempted as in conflict with the Federal Arbitration Act as interpreted by this Court.

No additional issues were presented in the Answer to Petition for Review.

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This case arises from the trial court's denial of a motion to compel arbitration in a single-plaintiff employment case. While there was no dispute that Plaintiff Angelica Ramirez ("Ramirez") had agreed to arbitrate all employment claims against her employer, Defendant Charter Communications, Inc. ("Charter"), the trial court found three provisions of Charter's Mutual Arbitration Agreement ("Agreement") substantively unconscionable, including: (1) a provision regarding the statute of limitations; (2) a provision regarding remedies; and (3) a provision allowing for interim attorney's fees after a successful motion to compel arbitration ("Section K").

The Court of Appeal affirmed in a published opinion ("Ramirez"), but in doing so contradicted the trial court by finding a different set of four provisions of the Agreement unconscionable, including: (1) the provision regarding the statute of limitations, (2) a provision excluding certain claims from arbitration (including claims that could be brought by an employee and claims for provisional remedies), (3) a provision permitting four depositions per side in arbitration, and (4) Section K regarding interim fees. In doing so, Ramirez explicitly disagreed with a recent decision from a different panel of the same Court in Patterson, which enforced the Agreement and found Section K was not unconscionable.

Each of the four provisions at issue here could and should be interpreted in a manner that would make the Agreement lawful and enforceable. Furthermore, these provisions are collateral to the main purpose of the Agreement and, if necessary, can be severed without affecting the central purpose of the Agreement, which is to arbitrate and resolve disputes. Numerous California trial courts and federal district courts have upheld the same Agreement by interpreting it in a manner to render it enforceable, or by severing any provisions found unconscionable. (See Exhibits to Appellant's Request for Judicial Notice, Volumes 1-2, pages 32-388 [hereafter RJN:vol:page]).

Ramirez is devoid of analysis which would justify refusing to sever the provisions at issue and enforce the Agreement. While precedent allows a court to refuse to enforce an employment arbitration agreement that is tainted by an overarching illegal purpose, there is no such bad purpose here. Charter's agreement applies to nearly 100,000 employees in 41 states (RJN:1:9-10) and is designed to create a fair forum for expeditious resolution of all types of claims that could arise between Charter and its employees. The Agreement provides for a neutral arbitrator and allocates discretion to the arbitrator to cure any unconscionable provisions when necessary. The Agreement also provides for the other four key protections required by Armendariz v. Found. Health Psychcare Servs., Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83 ("Armendariz"): all substantive remedies available in court, a written award, adequate discovery, and limited costs for the employee. Such facts evince Charter's lawful purpose of creating a fair arbitration forum.

Ramirez was unduly hostile to the enforcement of arbitration agreements, misinterpreting lawful clauses as evidencing an illegal intent and not considering all parts of the Agreement, such as the attached Solution Channel Program Guidelines and the Employment Rules of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA" and "AAA Rules"). Ramirez's hostility towards enforcing the Agreement contravenes the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") and violates this Court's established precedent, as well as jurisprudence from the United States Supreme Court, which establish that arbitration agreements should be treated with the same deference as any other contract.

Accordingly, Charter respectfully requests this Court reverse and vacate *Ramirez*, affirm *Patterson*, and reaffirm the principles established in *Armendariz*, that employment arbitration agreements should be enforced where possible to give credence to parties' agreement to arbitrate.

#### III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Charter provides telecommunications services to customers throughout the United States. Charter also purchases and sells goods, materials, supplies, services, and equipment in multiple states. (Appellant's Appendix, Volume 1, page 87 [hereafter AA:vol:page]). As such, during all relevant times, Charter was engaged in interstate commerce within the meaning of the FAA.

Charter announced and implemented its Solution Channel Program, which includes the Arbitration Agreement at issue in this case, on October 6, 2017. (AA:1:87:¶5). At all relevant times, Charter has employed over 93,000 employees in 41 states. (RJN:1:7-31). Ramirez worked for Charter from July 17, 2019 through May 14, 2020. (AA:1:8:¶10).

#### A. The Arbitration Agreement

Charter's Solution Channel Program ("Program") is an employment-based legal dispute resolution and arbitration program. (AA:1:87:¶5). One component of the Program is the Agreement, which applicants and employees are required to accept when applying for a position with Charter or when completing the onboarding process to commence employment with Charter. (AA:1:88:¶¶6-7).

Ramirez agreed to arbitrate all claims against Charter on two occasions. First, when Ramirez applied to work for Charter on June 28, 2019, and second when Ramirez commenced employment with Charter on July 17, 2019. (AA:1:94-102).

The Agreement states: "Arbitration hearings will be conducted pursuant to the Solution Channel Program Guidelines" ("Guidelines"). (AA:1:131 (Section I(1)). The Guidelines are a body of rules that apply to the arbitration proceeding. The Guidelines also explain the benefits of arbitration and describe the process in detail. (AA:1:104-128).

The Agreement also provides: "[t]he arbitration shall be held before one arbitrator who is a current member of the [AAA]" (AA:1:131 (Section H)), and "Charter will pay the AAA administrative fees." (AA:1:131 (Section K)). The Guidelines state that AAA "will be the administrator of the claim" and "AAA will preside over disputes that proceed to arbitration ..." (AA:1:113 (Rule 11), AA:1:125).

The Agreement explicitly provides for severance in the event that any term in the Agreement or Guidelines is found to be unconscionable or unenforceable. (AA:1:132 (Section Q)).

The Agreement further states that it is governed by the FAA. (AA:1:133 (Section R)).

## B. The Complaint and Motion to Compel Arbitration

On July 9, 2020, notwithstanding her Agreement, Ramirez filed this civil action, alleging the following employment-related causes of action against Charter: (1) disability discrimination;

- (2) interference with pregnancy leave; (3) retaliation;
- (4) harassment; (5) failure to prevent retaliation and harassment;
- (6) failure to accommodate; (7) failure to engage in the interactive process; and (8) wrongful termination. (AA:1:006-58).<sup>1</sup> It is

- 12 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All of Ramirez's claims arise under FEHA, except for the eighth cause of action for wrongful termination in violation of public policy.

undisputed that all of Ramirez's claims fall within the scope of her Agreement. (AA:2:316-339).

On October 20, 2020, Charter filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration ("Motion") in response to Ramirez's Complaint. Charter also filed a Request for Judicial Notice, requesting judicial notice of twelve decisions where courts compelled arbitration based on the same Agreement. (AA:1:59-279; AA:2:280-315).<sup>2</sup>

Ramirez opposed the Motion on November 2, 2020. In the opposition, Ramirez argued that the following provisions were substantively unconscionable: (1) the discovery clause, which Ramirez argued improperly limited her right to discovery; (2) the clause that exempts certain claims from arbitration, which Ramirez contended rendered the Agreement non-mutual; (3) the statute of limitations provision; and (4) the remedies provision, which Ramirez argued did not include protections required under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA"). Ramirez did not argue that the interim fees provision in Section K invalidated the Agreement, but only that Charter's request for interim fees if it prevailed on the motion to compel arbitration was "itself substantively unconscionable." (AA:2:334). However, Ramirez cited no authority in support of this argument. Charter filed a Reply in Support of the Motion on November 5, 2020. (AA:2:417-435).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court did not expressly grant or deny Charter's Request for Judicial Notice. (See AA:2:499-515).

On November 16, 2020, the trial court held a hearing on the Motion. Prior to the hearing, the trial court issued a tentative ruling granting the Motion. In its tentative ruling, the trial court correctly found that Ramirez consented to the Agreement both when she applied for employment and when she completed Charter's onboarding process. The trial court further found that while the statute of limitations provision and the remedies provision could be interpreted as potentially unconscionable in certain circumstances, those circumstances were not present in this case and those provisions could be severed. (AA:2:447-63). The trial court found the remaining provisions lawful and enforceable.

At the hearing on the Motion, Ramirez's counsel reiterated the argument that the interim attorneys' fee provision in section K of the Agreement, which provides for attorneys' fees to a prevailing party on a motion to compel arbitration, was also unconscionable.

The trial court took the motion under submission and ultimately found the interim fees provision to be unconscionable. Although the trial court had indicated in the tentative ruling that it would have been proper to sever two purportedly unconscionable provisions to enforce the Agreement, the trial court was unwilling to sever three provisions. On November 25, 2020, the trial court issued its final ruling, denying the Motion on the ground that the Agreement was unconscionable. (AA:2:464-516).

#### C. The Court of Appeal Decision

Charter timely appealed the denial of the Motion.

(AA:2:513-18). On February 18, 2022, the Court of Appeal affirmed, in the published opinion in *Ramirez*. However, the Court conducted an independent analysis of the purportedly unconscionable provisions in the Agreement and came to a different conclusion than the trial court. *Ramirez* agreed that the statute of limitations clause and the provision for interim fees in Section K were unconscionable but disagreed that the remedies provision was unconscionable. *Ramirez* also found that the exclusion of certain claims from arbitration and a "limitation" on depositions to four per side were unconscionable. *Ramirez* concluded that it was not possible to sever these four provisions, and instead found the entire agreement unenforceable.

## D. The Multitude of Decisions Enforcing Charter's Agreement

Contrary to the Court of Appeal's findings in *Ramirez*, the same Agreement – which has always included the provisions at issue here – has been repeatedly enforced by California and federal courts for the past five years. In Charter's Request for Judicial Notice filed concurrently herewith, Charter has attached one California Court of Appeal decision (in addition to *Patterson*), fourteen California trial court decisions, and twenty federal district or circuit court decisions wherein the same Agreement

has been upheld since its implementation in late 2017.<sup>3</sup> (RJN:1:32-194, RJN:2:201-388). Eleven of those decisions specifically analyzed the same provisions at issue in this case, and either found those provisions to be lawful, or severed those provisions to enforce the remainder of the Agreement:

• Discovery Provision: Six decisions held that the discovery provision is not unconscionable because the Agreement allows for sufficient discovery for the parties to vindicate their rights. (RJN:1:135 (Exh. 16: Gonzales v. Charter (C.D. Cal. 2020) 497 F.Supp.3d 844 ("Gonzales") ("Discovery limitations, however, are a common feature of arbitration that can be beneficial to all parties. ... There is nothing unusual or unfair about the limitation imposed here.")); RJN:2:307 (Exh. 36: *Ibarra v. Charter*, Los Angeles Superior Court ("LASC") Case No. 21STCV36249, January 18, 2022 Order ("Ibarra") ("Since this agreement leaves the arbitrator the flexibility to allow further discovery, the initial limitation on discovery is not unconscionable.")); RJN:2:360 (Exh. 41: Christmas v. Charter, LASC Case No. 19STCV45265, August 12, 2020 Order ("The Court finds that the [Agreement and Guidelines] do provide for

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Charter attaches 40 decisions to its RJN, but five of those decisions involve instances where a District Court adopted the ruling of a Magistrate Judge, or in two cases, where the Fifth and Sixth Circuits affirmed rulings from the District Courts. (RJN Exhs. 7, 14, 15 (*Gezu*); Exhs. 10, 17 (*Anderson*); Exhs. 20, 23 (*Hughes*); Exhs. 19, 21 (*Lasser*). Accordingly, there are 35 unique cases where courts have enforced Charter's arbitration agreement.

adequate discovery" and allows the Arbitrator to decide discovery disputes and order additional discovery. "Also, the discovery limitations in the [Agreement] apply to both parties and such limitations do not 'shock the conscience.")); RJN:2:373 (Exh. 42: Booker v. Charter, LASC Case No. 20STCV07680, July 17, 2020 Order ("Booker") ("The amount of discovery provided is adequate. ... Accordingly, the Court does not find that the discovery provisions are unconscionable.")); RJN:2:287 (Exh. 33: Coelho v. Charter, LASC Case No. 21STCV12694, August 2, 2022 Order ("Coelho") ("The court finds that this provision does not render the [Agreement] substantively unconscionable because (1) the discovery permitted by the Guidelines is adequate, and (2) the arbitrator has the ability to resolve discovery disputes in order to facilitate 'a full and equal opportunity to all parties to present evidence' and therefore has the ability to permit more discovery if necessary to establish Plaintiff's claims.")); RJN:2:271 (Exh. 32: Witrago v. Charter, LASC Case No. 21STCV44796, August 23, 2022 ("Witrago") (same))).

• Interim Fee Provision: Three decisions recognized that the interim fee provision in Section K is not unconscionable because it is mutual. (RJN:1:248 (Exh. 30: Esquivel v. Charter, No. CV 18-7304-GW(MRWX), 2018 WL 10806904, at \*1 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 6, 2018) ("Esquivel")); RJN:2:308 (Exh. 36: Ibarra ("There is nothing inappropriate about a fee provision of this type.")); RJN:2:337 (Exh. 38: Becerra v.

Charter, LASC Case No. 21STCV14283, September 9, 2021
Order ("Becerra")). Further, in Booker (RJN Exh. 42),
Scarpitti v. Charter, No. 18-CV-02133-REB-MEH, 2018 WL
10806905, at \*1 (D. Colo. Dec. 7, 2018) (RJN Exh. 29), and
Muhammad v. Charter, USDC, Western District of
Missouri, Case No. 21-0614-CV-W-FJG, January 6, 2022
(RJN Exh. 6), the courts granted Charter's motion for fees
after Charter prevailed in compelling arbitration, which
means that the courts did not find Section K
unconscionable.

- Statute of Limitations Provision: At least one decision interpreted the Agreement to find that there is no provision that shortens the statute of limitations for FEHA claims. (RJN:2:335 (Exh. 38: Becerra)).
- Exclusion of Claims: Three decisions emphasized that the Agreement is mutual and is not one-sided given that the provision exempting certain claims from arbitration applies both to Charter and employees. (RJN:1:134 (Exh. 16: *Gonzales* 497 F.Supp.3d at 844)); RJN:2:231 (Exh. 28: *Castorena v. Charter* (C.D. Cal. Dec. 14, 2018) No. 2:18-CV-07981-JFW-KS, 2018 WL 10806903, at \*5); RJN:2:374

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Additionally, one out-of-state district court decision agreed that the fee provision was not unconscionable under a similar unconscionability doctrine under Wisconsin law. (RJN:2:223 (Exh. 27: *Moorman v. Charter* (W.D. Wis. May 1, 2019) No. 18-CV-820-WMC, 2019 WL 1930116, at \*2)).

(Booker, Exh. 42 ("The Court agrees with Defendant that the provision is not one-sided."))).

Where other courts have found the provisions at issue in this case to be unconscionable, they have properly severed those provisions pursuant to Section Q of the Agreement and enforced the remainder of the Agreement. (RJN:2:298 (Exh. 35: Sestrich v. Charter Communications, Inc., LASC Case No. 21STCV33717, March 17, 2022 Order (severing the statute of limitations provision)); (RJN:2:307 (Exh. 36: Ibarra ("However, [the statute of limitations provision] can easily be dealt with by severing that provision from the contract. Severance is the preferred method of dealing with minor problematic terms and is the remedy called for by Section Q of the Agreement. ... Therefore, the second sentence of Section E of the Agreement should be SEVERED.")); (RJN:2:272 (Exh. 32: Witrago (same)); (RJN:2:286-88 (Exh. 33: Coelho (severing four provisions in the Agreement while still enforcing the Agreement))).

#### E. The *Patterson* Decision

In addition to disagreeing with the vast majority of courts that have analyzed the Agreement, *Ramirez* directly contradicts and openly criticizes a recent prior decision by Division Seven of the same Court, *Patterson*, which was issued on October 18, 2021 (four months before *Ramirez*), and which also addressed the same Agreement.

In *Patterson*, the trial court granted Charter's motion to compel arbitration and rejected Patterson's arguments that Charter's Agreement is unconscionable. *Patterson*, 70 Cal.App.5th at 479. Patterson sought a writ of mandate of the grant of Charter's motion, which was summarily denied. *Id*. Charter then moved the trial court for an award of attorneys' fees under Section K of the Agreement, which the trial court granted. Patterson sought a writ of mandate regarding the fee award, arguing that Section K of the Agreement was unconscionable. The Court granted the petition to decide whether Section K of the Agreement is enforceable. The Court found Section K enforceable:

Charter argues the fee provision in its arbitration agreement is analogous to the separate fee provision at issue in Acosta, 150 Cal.App.4th 1124—that is, it is specifically directed to fees incurred to compel arbitration—and should be enforced on the same basis. We agree. ... Patterson's claims are based on Charter's alleged violations of FEHA. The only contract dispute was the enforceability of the Charter arbitration agreement. was prevailing party in the superior court and is entitled to its fees under the fee provision in that contract to the extent not otherwise prohibited or limited by FEHA.

Patterson, 70 Cal.App.5th at 486 (emphasis added). While the Patterson court acknowledged that Section K could be read to contradict FEHA, the opinion instead gave credence to "the strong public policy favoring arbitration" and the "requirement we interpret the provisions in a contract in a manner that render them legal rather than void when possible." Patterson, 70

Cal.App.5th at 489. *Patterson* construed Section K to "impliedly incorporate the FEHA asymmetric rule for awarding attorney fees and costs." *Id.* at 490. Thus, while *Patterson* sent the decision of whether to award fees back to the trial court for reevaluation considering the Court of Appeal's analysis of the FEHA framework, it did not invalidate Section K of the Agreement.

#### IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

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