S273802

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ANGELICA RAMIREZ, Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC., Defendant and Appellant

On Gant of Petition for Review from Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B309408

> Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles Hon. David J. Cowan, Dept. 20 Case No. 20STCV25987

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Eric A. Panitz (SBN 243877)
PANITZ LAW GROUP APC
18000 Studebaker Road, Suite 700
Cerritos, CA 90703
(562) 924-7800 Phone
(562) 924-7801 Fax
eric@panitzlaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent

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

particular ambiguity that would allow the "interpretation" they urge. (See, *Patterson* at 490.)

Thus, the *Ramirez* court correctly found that the provision at issue was not ambiguous or subject to reinterpretation and was therefore correct in refusing to read the FEHA requirements into the agreement.

5. Enforceability of the agreement was not at issue in *Patterson*.

Moreover, *Patterson* is not in conflict with *Ramirez* on the larger question of unconscionability because (a) it did not address the overall enforceability of the agreement and (b) it held that the interim fee provision was unenforceable as written.

Patterson was the result of a writ petition seeking reversal of an award of attorney's fees under the same arbitration agreement at issue here. The trial court had previously rejected the employee's unconscionability challenge to the agreement as a whole and the Court of Appeal had summarily denied the writ as to that issue. (*Id.* at 478-79.) A summary denial is not generally a decision on the merits and has no res judicata effect where, as in *Patterson*, the issue could be raised again on appeal after judgment. (*Hoversten v. Sup. Ct.* (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 636, 640, as modified (Sept. 20, 1999).)

Thus, the issue of the agreement's enforceability as a whole was not the subject of the court's decision in *Patterson*; nor was severance of unconscionable provisions. Since "it is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered," there can be no conflict between *Ramirez* and *Patterson* on

matters not at issue in *Patterson*. (*People v. Alvarez* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1161, 1176; *Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1109, 1160.)

The only issue in *Patterson* was the enforceability of the interim attorney's fee provision. As described, the cases are actually in agreement in concluding that the provision cannot be enforced as written. Furthermore, as set forth in detail above, *Patterson*'s conclusion that FEHA's asymmetric rule for recovery of attorney's was erroneous because the Agreement is clear and unambiguous on that issue.

E. The Court of Appeal correctly concluded that agreement's discovery provision was insufficient.

Charter also argues that the discovery provisions of the agreement are adequate and not unconscionable. *Ramirez* correctly determined that, at least as applied here, the agreement did not allow sufficient discovery for Plaintiff to investigate and vindicate her claims.

The arbitration agreement here that the arbitration will be conducted "pursuant to the Solution Channel Program Guidelines." (1AA 131.) The Guidelines allow each party "up to four (4) depositions... up to 20 total interrogatories (including subparts) and up to 15 total requests for documents to the other party, whether the interrogatories and requests for documents are sent at one time or in increments." (1AA 122.) Further, although the arbitrator is given the authority to resolve disputes over discovery, nothing in the applicable guidelines indicate that the arbitrator has the authority to expand the available discovery

beyond those limitations. (*Id.*) Finally, the rules require discovery to be completed within 90 days. (1AA 121.)

As Plaintiff explained in her opposition, given the facts of the case, she will need at least seven depositions just to establish the basic facts supporting her claims: her supervisor; the HR employee with whom she dealt; the four employees hired into her department during her leave; and a person most knowledgeable regarding Charter's policies. By contrast, employers typically only take one deposition – the plaintiff's. As such, the limit on the number of depositions affects the employee far more than the employer.

Charter faults Plaintiff for failing to present specific evidence supporting the claim that that at least seven depositions will be required. However, the necessity of these depositions is evident from the pleadings and allegations in the case. (See, 1AA 8-10.) Charter also faults *Ramirez* for evaluating the discovery procedures based on the specifics of this individual case rather than on what could reasonably be expected at the time of agreement. This criticism also fails. "Generally, unconscionability is determined 'at the time [the agreement] was made' (Civ. Code, § 1670.5), yet courts have consistently assessed unconscionability for limitations on discovery as applied to a particular plaintiff." (*Ramirez*, at 385, citing, *Sanchez v. Carmax Auto Superstores California*, *LLC* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 398, 404–405.)

Moreover, the restriction of written discovery to 15 document requests and 20 interrogatories clearly imposes greater

burdens and difficulties on the employee plaintiff because all the relevant documentation is in possession of the employer. By contrast, the Code of Civil Procedure and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, for example, allow unlimited document requests. (See, Code Civ. Proc. § 2031.010; FRCP Rule 34.)

Finally, the requirement that all discovery be completed within 90-days creates a substantial burden to an employee's ability to vindicate her rights. As the trial court quoted in *Baxter* recognized, "[f]ew successful employment litigation attorneys will be in a position to suddenly put their practice on hold so as to accommodate this 'rocket docket' hearing procedure." (*Baxter*, 16 Cal.App.5th 713, 735.) When combined with the discovery restrictions above this extremely short timeline further enhances the unfairness of the discovery rules in the Solution Guidelines.

1. The agreement does not authorize the arbitrator to expand discovery.

Charter argues first that these limitations are merely the minimum discovery allowed and that the Guidelines permit the arbitrator to allow additional discovery when necessary. The language of the agreement, however, does not grant any such authority to the arbitrator. The actual language states:

Any disagreements regarding the exchange of information or depositions will be resolved by the arbitrator to allow a full and equal opportunity to all parties to present evidence that the arbitrator deems material and relevant to the resolution of the dispute. (1AA 122 [emphasis added.])

This provision is merely a grant of authority to resolve discovery disputes. Nothing in the language implies any discretion to order *additional* discovery rather than simply resolving discovery disputes within the established limits. Where the agreement or Guidelines intend to grant the arbitrator discretion, they explicitly use such language. (See, e.g., 1AA 164 [discretion to bifurcate and manage order of proof.]) The fact that no such grant of discretion is mentioned with regard to expanding discovery demonstrates that it does not exist. Nor is this similar to the agreement in *Mercuro*, because that agreement explicitly authorized additional discovery on a showing of "good" cause." (Mercuro, 96 Cal.App.4th 167, 182.) In fact, a review of the caselaw described in the next section below shows that such "safety-valve" clauses are extremely common. Had Charter intended to grant such authority to the arbitrator it could have easily done so and the fact that it did not do so demonstrates that it never intended to allow the arbitrator such authority.

Thus, there is no basis for the claim that the arbitrator has discretion under the Guidelines to order additional discovery or depositions.

2. Limitations on discovery are distinguishable from those approved in other cases.

Charter argues that these limitations are similar to those approved by the courts in other cases and merely reflect the limited discovery often used in arbitration. In fact, each of the cases is distinguishable in that they explicitly allow for more expansive discovery where necessary.

For example, while the agreement in *Dotson* allowed only one fact deposition in addition to experts, it also allowed unlimited document requests. (*Dotson v. Amgen, Inc.* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 975, 982.) More importantly, the agreement specifically authorized the arbitrator to allow additional depositions and discovery "upon a showing of need." (*Id.*) The agreement in *Sanchez* similarly allowed additional discovery on a showing of "substantial need," as did the agreements in *Mercuro* and *Torrecillas*. (*Sanchez v. Carmax Auto Superstores California, LLC, supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th 398, 404; *Mercuro*, 96 Cal.App.4th at 182; *Torrecillas v. Fitness Int'l, LLC* (2020) 52 Cal.App.5th 485, 497 ["The arbitrator may permit additional discovery at a party's request and after a showing of substantial need."]) As shown above, Charter's agreement makes no such provision for additional discovery where needed.

In addition, "Sanchez is inapposite because the agreement in that case required the disclosure of relevant documents with a continuing obligation to supplement." (Leon v. Pinnacle Prop. Mgmt. Servs. (2021) 72 Cal.App.5th 476, 494.) The agreement here has no such requirements to produce documents that have not been specifically requested and no duty to supplement.

Roman involved an agreement that incorporated the AAA rules on discovery which direct the arbitrator to allow all discovery necessary for "a full and fair exploration of the issues in dispute, consistent with the expedited nature of arbitration." (Roman, 172 Cal.App.4th 1462, 1475.) As described below, the AAA rules are not incorporated into this agreement and the

arbitrator does not have any discretion to alter the rules and limits on discovery.

Accordingly, *Ramirez's* conclusion that the agreement here, which pointedly does *not* make such a provision for additional discovery were needed, is unconscionable is well within the mainstream of authority on this issue.

3. The Court cannot infer adequate discovery where the agreement explicitly restricts discovery rights.

Next, Charter strangely argues that Armendariz stands for the proposition that a lack of adequate discovery should not generally be grounds to invalidate an arbitration agreement because provision of adequate discovery is implicitly incorporated into the arbitration agreement. What *Armendariz* actually says is: "The denial of adequate discovery in arbitration proceedings leads to the de facto frustration of the employee's statutory rights." (Armendariz, 24 Cal.4th 83, 104.) In the specific agreement at issue in Armendariz, it was held that the agreement had implicitly incorporated by reference the discovery rules of Code Civ. Proc. section 1283.05, which states that, after the appointment of the arbitrator, the parties have the "right to take depositions and to obtain discovery regarding the subject matter of the arbitration, and, to that end, to use and exercise all of the same rights, remedies, and procedures," of the Discovery Act, as if the case "were pending before a superior court of this state in a[n unlimited] civil action." (Armendariz, at 105 fn 10 [emphasis added.]) Thus, the Court found that that particular agreement could be read as including the right to the full scope of discovery. The Court did *not* state that this would apply where, as here, the agreement is not ambiguous or silent on the issue.

4. The agreement does not incorporate AAA rules.

Charter also faults the Court of Appeal for failing to apply the AAA rules in order to save the arbitration agreement with respect to discovery and other issues. The Agreement, however, never states that the AAA rules should be incorporated or that the arbitration will be conducted in accordance with AAA rules. The rules are *only* invoked with regard to the appointment of the arbitrator.

Under the AAA rule quoted, AAA rules are only incorporated if the agreement provides for arbitration by the AAA "without specifying particular rules." (OBM at p.34.) The agreement, however, does specify "particular rules" other than those of the FAA. The agreement states that the proceedings will be "conducted pursuant to the Solution Channel Program Guidelines," not the AAA rules. (1AA 131.).

Thus, since Charter chose to specify rules other than the AAA rules, the court could not impose them on the parties and could not use the AAA rules to mitigate or override any defects in the agreement. (See, *Ramirez*, at 386 fn 10 ["The only reference to the AAA rules in either document is in relation to the selection of an arbitrator, and Charter's obligation to pay the AAA administrative fees. In fact, the arbitration agreement clearly stated the applicable rules in paragraph I: 'Arbitration hearings will be conducted pursuant to the Solution Channel Program

Guidelines."]) Ramirez also noted that, while Charter had argued in the trial court that the AAA rules expanded the arbitrator's power to order discovery, it had abandoned that argument on appeal. (*Id.*) Charter should not be allowed to "resurrect" that argument now before this court.

F. Exclusion of claims the employer is likely to raise grants the employer an unfair advantage.

Finally, the Court of Appeal found that the exclusion of certain claims from in which the employer is likely to be the plaintiff, while including all potential claims brought an employee rendered the agreement unduly one-sided. (Ramirez, at 382-84.) "An agreement may be unfairly one-sided if it compels arbitration of the claims more likely to be brought by the weaker party but exempts from arbitration the types of claims that are more likely to be brought by the stronger party." (Fitz v. NCR Corp. (2004) 118 Cal. App. 4th 702, 724.) Courts recognize that "claims for injunctive and/or other equitable relief for intellectual property violations, unfair competition and/or the use and/or unauthorized disclosure of trade secrets or confidential information," are typically the types of claims more likely to be brought by an employer against and employee. (Mercuro, 96) Cal.App.4th 167, 176.) Further, "it is far more often the case that employers, not employees, will file" claims regarding non-compete agreements and intellectual property. (Fitz, supra, at 725.)

Section C of the arbitration agreement list a variety of claims excluded from arbitration. The only types of excluded claims typically made by employees are administrative claims that are not arbitrable in any case, e.g., worker's compensation and unemployment claims. (1AA 130 [¶C.1-5.]) Worker's compensation exclusivity, for example, prevents bringing claims for workplace injuries in any context other than the worker's compensations system. (Labor Code, § 3602(a); Amalgamated Transit Union v. Los Angeles County (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 673 [distinguishing claims for reinstatement from compensation for workplace injuries].) "Worker's compensation and unemployment benefits are governed by their own adjudicatory systems; neither is a proper subject matter for arbitration." (Ramirez, at 384, quoting, Mercuro, supra, 96 Cal.App.4th at 176.) Moreover, ERISA claims, which are also excluded, are covered by their own separate detailed plan documents and define their own claims and grievance procedures. Thus, the exclusion of employee-brought claims has little practical effect.

However, the agreement excludes most of the claims likely to brought by an employer in court against an employee: claims for injunctive relief or equitable remedies related to unfair competition, trade secrets, or confidential information; violation of severance and non-compete agreements; claims of theft, embezzlement or criminal conduct; and claims over validity of intellectual property rights. (Id., [\P C.6,7,10,11.])

An employee is unlikely to initiate litigation against an employer for claims of unfair competition, breach of confidentiality, embezzlement or disputes over intellectual property rights. However, all those claims are commonly brought by employers, as recognized by the courts. Although Charter

argues that criminal issues are non-arbitrable, that is not true of civil claims arising from alleged criminal conduct. There is no bar to arbitrating civil claims of conversion, fraud or embezzlement. Nonetheless, the agreement grants Charter the right to pursue all such claims in the civil courts. In drafting this section, Charter is merely ensuring that it has the right to resort to the courts when it sees fit, while the employee is virtually always relegated to arbitration.

The remaining exclusions are also of little practical effect. They include claims that are non-arbitrable by statute, those barred by the statute of limitations, those already pending in court at the time of the agreement, and those involving separate employment or collective bargaining agreements.

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